I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Grocery Manufacturers Association ("GMA"), appellant below, 

asks this Court to accept review of the decision designated in Part IL 

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

On September 5, 2018, Division II affirmed the trial court's 

liability findings but reversed that court's imposition of treble damages. 

State v. Grocery Mfrs. Ass 'n, - Wn. App. -, 425 P.3d 927 (2018) 

("OMA"). See Appendix A. GMA timely sought reconsideration, which 

the court of appeals denied on November 7, 2018. See Appendix B. 

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

A. When GMA showed that the disclosures required of 

"political committees" under the Fair Campaign Practices Act ("FCPA") 

were not just burdensome but also would have subjected GMA's members 

to death threats and economic reprisals, the First Amendment called for 

"exacting scrutiny" of the justification for the State's enforcement action. 

Specifically, the State had to show that treating GMA as a "political 

committee" as of February 28, 2013, (1) promoted a sufficiently important 

state interest and (2) was substantially related to that interest. But the State 

relied wholly on the value of disclosure for its own sake and presented no 

evidence that, absent "political committee" treatment, GMA's activities 

would have misled or did mislead any voter or denied voters information 
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that they needed to understand the economic bias of the messaging that 

GMA supported. On this record, does the State's application of the FCPA 

to GMA fail exacting First Amendment scrutiny? 

B. The court of appeals held that, to be a "political committee" 

under the FCP A, an organization need not have a primary purpose of 

electioneering if it is charged under the "contributions" prong of the 

statute, even though it must have such a purpose if charged under the 

"expenditures" prong. Does this conflict with the holding in Utter v. 

Building Industry Association of Washington, 182 Wn.2d 398, 341 P. 3d 

953 (2015), and Utter's articulation of what the First Amendment 

requires? 

C. The court of appeals affirmed the trial court's holding that 

GMA violated a statute prohibiting "concealment" of the source of 

contributions. But the only conduct that purportedly gave rise to this 

violation was GMA's failure to register and report as a political 

committee. Case law and the structure of the FCP A suggest that violating 

the concealment statute requires fraudulent conduct, which indisputably 

GMA never engaged in. Did the court misapply the concealment statute by 

letting the State "double count" GMA's failure to register and report as a 

political committee as violating a different statute? 
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IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

GMA is a 111-year-old trade association of American food, 

beverage, and consumer-product makers. See CP 4052; RP 641-42. For 

several years debate raged over whether such companies should be 

required to disclose on food labels the presence of ingredients derived 

from genetically modified organisms, or GMOs. Trial Exhibit ("Ex.") 2, 

139. GMA sought to educate consumers about GMOs. GMA also 

recognized that complying with a patchwork of inconsistent GMO

labeling requirements would be costly, complex, and burdensome. Ex. 2, 

139. GMA thus favored uniform federal legislation1 and opposed 

piecemeal state-level efforts to address this issue. See RP 433-34, 654. 

One example of GMA's strategy is its opposition to a GMO

labeling initiative on the 2012 California ballot. See Ex. 139; CP 4053; RP 

442. There GMA learned that its own financial resources were too meager 

to enable meaningful political participation. See RP 433-34; Ex. 2. GMA 

therefore asked its members to contribute to the effort, both directly and 

by providing funds to GMA that were earmarked for the "No" campaign, 

all of which GMA disclosed. See Ex. 139; RP 277-78, 440-41. Because 

member companies had not planned for unbudgeted expenses, they had 

difficulty responding promptly to GMA's pleas for help. See Ex. 13. 

1 Federal legislation was enacted in July 2016. See Pub. L. 114-214. 
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Moreover, when their contributions were disclosed, many of GMA's 

members received threats and suffered boycotts. See RP 180-81; CP 4053. 

Given this experience, GMA and its members wanted a solution 

that would let GMA participate in the political process while protecting its 

members from danger and harassment. In August 2012 GMA staff 

discussed creating a "Defense of Brands Strategic Account" (the 

"Account"). Ex. 131; see also CP 4054. The goal of Account was to 

empower GMA to speak on the controversial issue of GMO labeling 

through lobbying, participation in ballot initiatives, issue advocacy, and 

consumer research and outreach. Ex. 21, 139; RP 441-43. 

At that time, August 2012, GMA knew virtually nothing about 

Washington Initiative 522. RP 436. It was not until November that GMA 

even began discussing I-522, which would not appear on the ballot for a 

year, if at all. See CP 4054. In January 2013 GMA commissioned a poll to 

determine the feasibility of challenging I-522 if and when it qualified for 

the ballot. Ex. 9, 137; CP 2337-38; RP 296-97, 329. GMA planned to 

decide whether to oppose I-522 based on the poll results. CP 2337-38; RP 

296-97, 329. 

Meanwhile, GMA wanted to add its own voice to the debate over 

GMO-labeling, while reducing the risk that its members would suffer 

reprisals as they had in California. See Ex. 2. GMA believed that the 
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Account would help it do this, and it was told this approach was lawful. 

See Ex. 16, 17, 23, 148; RP 155-56. Creation of the Account was approved 

on February 28, 2013. According to the State and the lower courts, this 

was the moment when GMA became a political committee that should 

have registered within fourteen days and reported a host of internal 

information, much of it unrelated to Washington electoral activities-two 

months before I-522 even qualified for the ballot. 

On March 15, 2013, GMA informed its members of its first polling 

results and first invoiced them for Account funds. Ex. 32 at 2; CP 4060. 

Once members paid into the Account, the money became GMA's. CP 918, 

1473-77; RP 297, 303, 338, 654. I-522 qualified for the November ballot 

on April 28, 2013. CP 605. On May 8, GMA made its first contribution to 

the No on 522 Committee ("No on I-522"). See Ex. 76. That and later 

contributions were all disclosed by No on I-522 as coming from GMA. 

In October 2013 the State sued GMA, alleging that GMA had 

failed to properly register and report as a political committee and that 

GMA had thereby concealed the sources of funds that it contributed in its 

own name to No on I-522. CP 18-24. GMA promptly registered a political 
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committee, "Grocery Manufacturers Association Against I-522,"2 and 

disclosed members who had paid into the Account. CP 1690-92, 3858-60. 

The trial court entered summary judgment against GMA on 

liability and found against it after a penalty-phase trial. On April 5, 2017, 

the trial court entered an amended judgment reflecting a net judgment 

amount of $19,026,090. SCP 4354-57. The court of appeals affirmed the 

trial court's liability determination but ruled that the trial court had 

improperly trebled its initial $6 million fine. 

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 

A. As applied to GMA, the FCP A's disclosure mandate for 
"political committees" fails exacting scrutiny. 

Because compelled disclosure "can seriously infringe on privacy of 

association and belief guaranteed by the First Amendment," the 

"significant encroachments on First Amendment rights of the sort that 

compelled disclosure imposes . . . must survive exacting scrutiny." 

Buckley v. Valeo, 424 U.S. 1, 64, 96 S. Ct. 612, 46 L. Ed. 2d 659 (1976). 

To survive exacting scrutiny, the State must show that applying the FCPA 

to GMA (1) promoted a sufficiently important government interest and (2) 

bore a substantial relationship to that interest. GMA, 425 P.3d at 939. 

2 No such entity existed, but the PDC told GMA to act as if there were one and to treat 
funds in the Account as member contributions to "GMA Against 1-522." See CP 546. The 
Account included significant monies spent on non-Washington state activities. See CP 
592-93, 610. 
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In the context of a ballot initiative, the State's interest in promoting 

fair elections by requiring disclosure of campaign contributions comes 

down to this: improving voters' understanding of the interests of those that 

fund messages favoring or opposing the measure. See Human Life of 

Wash., Inc. v. Brumsickle, 624 F.3d 990, 1005 (9th Cir. 2010).3 In this 

case, voters fully understood the interests of initiative opponents. The No 

on I-522 campaign disclosed its principal contributors as Monsanto, 

DuPont Pioneer, and Grocery Manufacturers Association. CP 1250.4 

To treat "disclosure" or "transparency" as ends in themselves (as 

the court of appeals did) is circular. The State must show that requiring a 

particular disclosure (the "means") actually promotes fair elections (the 

"end"). Far from applying exacting scrutiny, the court of appeals excused 

the State from proving that labeling GMA a political committee (1) 

promoted a fairer election and (2) did not disproportionately burden 

GMA's political expression. 

First, the court of appeals assumed without any evidence that 

labeling GMA a political committee made the election fairer because 

voters might be interested in knowing which members were contributing. 

3 Unlike financial support for candidates, there is no risk of quid-pro-quo corruption in an 
initiative campaign. 
4 See also No on 522, WASH. PDC (2013), https://www.pdc.wa.gov/browse/campaign
explorer/committee?filer _id=NO522%20%20507 &election _year=2013 (navigate to the 
"Contributions" tab). 
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The court should have required the State to demonstrate with evidence 

how this information would have enhanced the electoral process. Instead, 

the court took for granted that knowing the names of particular companies 

would be valuable to voters. GMA at 425 P.3d at 940 (surmising that this 

information could have let voters recognize that large beverage companies 

like Coca Cola were significant contributors to the Account). 

In doing so, the court overlooked evidence that it was GMA's 

smaller and less well-known members (rather than companies like Coca 

Cola) that were uniquely vulnerable to harassment, CP 2359-63,5 the risk 

of which outweighed any value to voters of knowing these companies' 

involvement. The court also ignored the State's utter failure to present 

evidence that GMA misled voters or that voters would have benefitted 

from more information. GMA was engaged in core political speech on an 

issue of public concern-an expressive activity at the heart of our political 

system entitled to the utmost First Amendment protection. Compared to 

this fundamental interest, the State's interest in promoting a more fully 

informed electorate was relatively insignificant, since there was no 

evidence that additional disclosure would in fact have helped voters. 6 

5 CP 2360: "The big companies are all well known .... [T]he list was being used as a 
witch hunt particularly to go after smaller companies that couldn't defend themselves." 
6 See McIntyre v. Ohio Elections Comm 'n, 514 U.S. 334, 348-49, 115 S. Ct. 1511, 131 L. 
Ed. 2d 426 (1995) (compelled disclosure of political flyers' author did not promote 
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Although the court may have thought it was just "common sense" to 

assume that more information is always better than less, doing that 

excused the State from its required showing and failed to give GMA the 

protection that the Constitution requires. 

Second, the court of appeals framed too narrowly the question of 

whether applying the FCP A to GMA disproportionately burdened the 

associational freedoms of GMA and its members. The court said that "[ a ]t 

least regarding the DOB [A]ccount, one of GMA's primary purposes was 

to influence the Washington election on I-522" because "GMA budgeted 

$10 million of the $16.5 million it planned to obtain ... for the DOB 

account to oppose I-522." GMA, 425 P.3d at 941 (emphasis added). The 

court erred in designating the Account, rather than GMA, as the reference 

point for evaluating the primacy of GMA's electoral activities. The proper 

question was whether electoral activity is a primary purpose of GMA.7 In 

setting the "denominator" against which to evaluate primacy so narrowly, 

the court of appeals adopted a standard the State can always satisfy 

transparency where author's identity would "add little, if anything, to the reader's ability 
to evaluate the ... message" that they received from a stranger). 
7 See State ex rel. Evergreen Freedom Found. v. Wash. Educ. Ass 'n, 111 Wn. App. 586, 
600, 49 P.3d 894 (2002) (factors for determining primary purpose include "(1) ... the 
stated goals and mission of the organization; (2) whether the organization's actions 
further its ... goals and mission; (3) whether the stated goals and mission of the 
organization would be substantially achieved by a favorable outcome in an upcoming 
election; and ( 4) whether the organization uses means other than electoral political 
activity to achieve its stated goals and mission." (emphasis added)). 
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whenever a national trade association budgets money for political activity 

that will be funded by special assessment. See GMA, 425 P.3d at 943-44 

("[M]ember payments are contributions to a political committee if the 

payments are segregated into a fund for political purposes and the 

members know or should know that the fund will be used for those 

purposes."). 

Such nominal protections are constitutionally intolerable, for they 

provide no check on the State's use of its coercive power to influence free 

expression. Applying the FCP A to GMA in these circumstances 

disproportionately burdened its right to engage in core political speech on 

national issues and its members' right to associate freely to do the same. 

Third, the court of appeals improperly discounted the interests of 

GMA's members in avoiding boycotts, harassment, and death threats. 

[F]reedom to engage in association for the advancement of 
beliefs and ideas is an inseparable aspect of the "liberty" 
assured by the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth 
Amendment, which embraces freedom of speech .... [I]t is 
immaterial whether the beliefs sought to be advanced by 
association pertain to political, economic, religious or 
cultural matters .... 

NAACP v. Alabama ex rel. Patterson, 357 U.S. 449, 460, 78 S. Ct. 1163, 2 

L. Ed. 2d 1488 (1958). As the court of appeals noted, GMA's members 

suffered death threats, cyber harassment, and boycotts for participating in 

the California election, including efforts to attack their associational 
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freedom directly by forcing compames "to withdraw from GMA 

membership." GMA, 425 P.3d at 942 (citing CP 1540, 1765, 1771). GMA 

and its members also received online threats "every single day" and were 

the targets of vandalism. See CP 1543-44, 1775. 

The court of appeals dismissed all this as "similar to the evidence 

deemed not sufficient to prevent disclosure in Buckley and Reed." Id. 

Drawing such a parallel was strange, given that Buckley and Reed 

involved far weaker evidence about the consequences of disclosure than 

that shown here. Buckley held that minor-party officials could not avoid 

disclosure because "[a]t best they offer ... testimony ... that one or two 

persons refused to make contributions because of the possibility of 

disclosure." Buckley, 424 U.S. at 71-72. The Doe v. Reed plaintiffs 

facially challenged disclosure requirements but failed to address the lack 

of any reprisals attending disclosure in cases other than their own. 561 

U.S. 186, 200-01, 130 S. Ct. 2811, 177 L. Ed. 2d 493 (2010). 

This case presents exactly the type of evidence Buckley recognized 

as implicating associational freedom: "specific evidence of past or present 

harassment of members due to their associational ties, or of harassment 

directed against the organization itself," or "a pattern of threats or specific 

manifestations of public hostility." Buckley, 424 U.S. at 74. An 

organization or its members need not suffer an actual death to have their 
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associational freedoms protected; death threats will suffice. The court of 

appeals misapplied exacting scrutiny in addressing this significant 

constitutional question. See RAP 13.4(b)(3); Right-Price Recreation, LLC 

v. Connells Prairie Cmty. Council, 105 Wn. App. 813, 825, 21 P.3d 1157 

(2001) ("When advocacy groups are required to disclose the identity of 

their members and the details of all of their activities, the freedom of 

members to promote their views suffers."). 

B. The GMA decision conflicts with this Court's holding that the 
First Amendment requires limiting the political committee 
statute to entities with "a primary purpose" of electioneering. 

In Utter v. Building Industry Association of Washington, this Court 

held that the First Amendment requires imposing a "purpose" limitation 

on the political committee statute. 8 182 Wn.2d 398, 427, 341 P .3d 953 

(2015) ( applying the political committee statute only to organizations with 

a "primary purpose" of electioneering satisfies this requirement). The 

court of appeals misapplied Utter's holding by failing to apply the 

"primary purpose" limitation to the entire political committee statute. See 

RAP 13.4(b)(l). 

8 "'Political committee' means any person (except a candidate or an individual dealing 
with his or her own funds or property) having the expectation of receiving contributions 
or making expenditures in support of, or opposition to, any candidate or any ballot 
proposition." Former RCW 42.17A.005(37) (now subsection (40)). Washington courts 
analytically separate the "receiving contributions or making expenditures" language into 
two separate prongs, the "contribution" and "expenditure" prongs, respectively. 
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Utter explains that "[ c ]learly" one can be a political committee 

"under either the 'receiving contributions' or 'making expenditures' 

portion of the statutory definition, plus whatever 'purpose' test might also 

be added on to that statutory definition." Utter, 182 Wn.2d at 416 

( emphasis added). This "is necessary to satisfy First Amendment 

concerns." Id. at 427. Put simply, Utter imposes a constitutional threshold 

on political committee status-the burdens of which are equally onerous 

regardless of which statutory prong the State invokes.9 The State cannot 

jump this threshold merely because, until this case, no Washington court 

had the opportunity to apply the primary purpose test to the contributions 

prong. By allowing the State to do just that, the court of appeals' ruling 

subjected OMA to an unconstitutional burden on its First Amendment 

rights. 

1. Not applying the primary purpose test to the contributions 
prong chills protected speech and unduly burdens the 
activities of nationwide trade associations. 

Failing to apply a purpose limitation to the both prongs of the 

political committee statute unduly burdens the speech and non-speech 

activities of nationwide trade associations. 10 If such associations need not 

9 If anything, being a political committee under the contributions prong is more onerous 
than under the expenditure prong, because it imposes a disclosure obligation even before 
any money is spent on electioneering. 
10 The State never argued that GMA has a primary purpose of electioneering, see Resp. 's 
Br. (8/22/17) at 31-32, and thereby implicitly conceded that GMA lacks such a purpose. 
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have a primary purpose of electioneering to be swept up by the FCP A, 

their receipt of any funds that could potentially be spent in elections would 

require them to disclose a massive amount of internal information 

unrelated to electioneering11 as well as the names and addresses of 

member-contributors. See RCW 42.17 A.240(2). 

Such compelled disclosure chills members' willingness not just to 

contribute to a given cause, but to associate together at all. See Buckley, 

424 U.S. at 15 ("[E]ffective advocacy of both public and private points of 

view, particularly controversial ones, is undeniably enhanced by group 

association."); Right-Price, 105 Wn. App. at 825. It would also disclose 

groups' proprietary information and interfere with their internal operations 

by exposing information not implicating any state interest. State ex rel. 

Evergreen Freedom Found. v. Wash. Educ. Ass 'n, 111 Wn. App. 586, 598, 

49 P .3d 894 (2002) ("EFF') ("All funds would have to be reported, even 

those used for traditional labor union activities not connected with 

electoral campaign activity .... "). 

2. Treating contributions differently from expenditures 
ignores the statute and creates an unconstitutional loophole. 

Under Washington law, contributions to an entity will become

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