FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 2/15/2019 12:59 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. 96604-4

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent/Cross Petitioner,

v.

GROCERY MANUFACTURERS ASSOCIATION,

Petitioner/Cross Respondent.

STATE OF WASHINGTON'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

CALLIE A. CASTILLO, WSBA 38214 Deputy Solicitor General

1125 Washington Street SE Olympia, WA 98504 360-664-0869 OID 91087

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

IV. ARGUMENT

GMA asked the Court of Appeals to hold that the First Amendment requires that organizations, like GMA, be allowed to collect money from contributors and spend that money on a campaign without the public ever knowing who is behind the spending. The Court of Appeals rejected GMA's arguments, and in doing so affirmed the people's right to know who was financing—and thus influencing—the public discourse on Initiative 522. Because the Court of Appeals' decision on these issues reflects well-settled constitutional principles and is consistent with state and federal case law addressing similar claims, this Court should decline review.

A. The Court of Appeals' Decision Upholding Washington's Disclosure Laws is Consistent with the Constitution and Settled Case Law

Courts subject campaign finance disclosure laws, such as Washington's, to exacting scrutiny. See, e.g., Citizens United v. Fed.

Election Comm'n, 558 U.S. 310, 366-67, 130 S. Ct. 876, 175 L. Ed. 2d 753 (2010) (campaign disclosure requirements are subject to exacting scrutiny); *VEC*, 161 Wn.2d at 482 (same); *Family PAC v. McKenna*, 685 F.3d 800, 805-06 (9th Cir. 2012) (same, evaluating these laws); *Brumsickle*, 624 F.3d at 1005 (same). To avoid encroaching on any First Amendment rights, there must be a "substantial relation' between the governmental interest and the information required to be disclosed." *VEC*, 161 Wn.2d at 482 (quoting *Buckley v. Valeo*, 424 U.S. 1, 64, 96 S. Ct. 612, 46 L. Ed. 2d 659 (1976)). In an as-applied challenge, the question becomes whether, based on the facts presented, requiring the disclosure would result in an unconstitutionally onerous burden when compared to the State's interest in providing the public with the required information. *See Utter*, 182 Wn.2d at 430.

The Court of Appeals applied this level of scrutiny to find that Washington's compelling interest in informing voters about who is contributing money to initiative campaigns outweighed any purported burden that GMA claimed on its First Amendment rights from having to disclose its members' contributions. *GMA*, 5 Wn. App. 2d at 192-99. GMA, nevertheless, faults the Court of Appeals for its analysis, claiming two errors: (1) there is no proof that requiring GMA to disclose its members' contributions furthered the State's interests in a fairer election and (2) requiring disclosure of this information disproportionately burdens GMA's free expression. GMA Pet. at 7. Neither claim bears true, and thus there is no reason for this Court to accept review.

GMA first argues that the State should have been required to prove with evidence that requiring disclosure in this case would have specifically enhanced the electoral process. GMA Pet. at 7-8. GMA's lack of citation to any authority for this proposition is telling for two reasons. It discounts the federal and state courts' universal recognition of the importance of providing voters with information about who is supporting or opposing a ballot measure. *See GMA*, 5 Wn. App. 2d at 192-94 (discussing cases). It is also inconsistent with the tailoring analysis required for exacting scrutiny, which requires only "a substantial relation between the disclosure requirement and a sufficiently important governmental interest." *Citizens United*, 558 U.S. at 366-67 (internal quotation marks omitted).

The relevant inquiry is not whether the State could prove specifically that voters were confused about the difference between GMA and its members or would have voted differently if they had known who was really opposing Initiative 522. The relevant inquiry is whether requiring GMA to disclose its contributors "bear[s] a substantial relationship to Washington State's sufficiently important interest in providing the electorate with source and financial information to inform their decision making at the ballot box." *Brumsickle*, 624 F.3d at 1008. The Court of Appeals correctly determined that a substantial relationship did exist between the requirement that GMA disclose its members' contributions to oppose Initiative 522 and the State's "compelling interest" in providing information about who is contributing money to initiative campaigns. *GMA*, 5 Wn. App. 2d at 199.

GMA next argues the Court of Appeals improperly framed the question of whether requiring disclosure here disproportionately burdened its and its members' associational freedoms. GMA Pet. at 8-12. GMA contends that the Court of Appeals discounted the burdens of disclosure on GMA's "smaller and less-known members." *Id.* at 8 (citing CP 2359-63). However, the evidence GMA points to concerns "the smaller companies who were not involved in the GMO issue," CP 2361, not those who contributed to its Defense of Brands Account. *See* CP 2359-63. If GMA had in fact disclosed which of its members were contributing to the opposition, any concerns it had regarding these smaller companies likely would have been negated. Disclosure would have allowed the public to discern which of GMA's members funded the opposition to Initiative 522 and which had declined to participate. *See GMA*, 5 Wn. App. 2d at 196.

GMA also asserts that the Court of Appeals erred in rejecting its contention that disclosure laws disproportionately burden national trade associations' rights to engage in political speech. GMA Pet. at 9-10. However, as the Court of Appeals noted, this case does not concern the broad application of the State's disclosure laws to national organizations. *GMA*, 5 Wn. App. 2d at 196. Instead, it concerns the specific application of Washington law to GMA's Defense of Brand Account. *Id.* GMA undisputedly created and used that Account to influence Washington's election on Initiative 522. *Id.* GMA was also only required to disclose the contributions to and expenditures from that Account. CP 4072. The Court of Appeals correctly rejected GMA's attempt to hide behind its corporate structure as a means of evading Washington's campaign finance laws. *GMA*, 5 Wn. App. 2d at 196.

Last, GMA contends that the Court of Appeals discounted the interests of its members in avoiding boycotts, harassment, and death threats. GMA Pet. at 10-12. It is true that the Supreme Court has permitted some groups to avoid compelled disclosure upon proof of "a reasonable probability that the compelled disclosure of a party's contributors' names will subject them to threats, harassment, or reprisals." *See John Doe 1 v. Reed*, 561 U.S. 186, 200, 130 S. Ct. 2811, 177 L. Ed. 2d 493 (2010) (quoting *Buckley*, 424 U.S. at 74). Courts, however, have approved this exemption from disclosure for only a few select groups, such as minor political parties or the NAACP, and only upon an "uncontroverted showing" of specific incidents of significant governmental or private hostility. *See Buckley*, 424

U.S. at 69, 74; *Brown v. Socialist Workers '74 Campaign Comm.*, 459 U.S. 87, 99-100, 103 S. Ct. 416, 74 L. Ed. 2d 250 (1982); *NAACP v. Alabama*, 357 U.S. 449, 462, 78 S. Ct. 1163, 2 L. Ed. 2d 1488 (1958). Importantly, threats of boycotts or other economic reprisals to companies have never been found to be sufficient to overcome the public's right to engage in those protected activities. *Cf. NAACP v. Claiborne Hardware Co.*, 458 U.S. 886, 907-12, 102 S. Ct. 3409, 73 L. Ed. 2d 1215 (1982).

GMA exaggerates the evidence of harm to its members, which the Court of Appeals found to be "minimal" and "generalized." *GMA*, 5 Wn. App. 2d at 198-99. GMA can point only to the deposition testimony of a single staff member who vaguely described hostility toward GMA and some of its member companies for their opposition to GMO labeling. *See* GMA Pet. at 10-11 (citing deposition testimony of Pamela Bailey). But this isolated, highly speculative testimony does not rise to the level of the "specific evidence" required to establish any purported threat of harm to GMA or its members' interests such that the courts should consider exempting it from the disclosure requirements. *See GMA*, 5 Wn. App. 2d at 198 (quoting *Buckley*, 424 U.S. at 74).

Further, none of the threats that GMA now claims are reflected in its contemporaneous records establishing the Defense of Brands Account in the first place. Instead, GMA's records show its members were concerned with harm to their brand images and potential boycotts of their products. *See, e.g.*, Ex. 13 ("There were efforts by the activists to boycott our brands and harm the confidence consumers have in our products."); Ex. 21 ("Criticism of the industry for its position on the GMO issue and our financial support for the campaign in California are the most recent attacks on our companies and the products we make."). Because these economic-based "generalized concerns do not establish a reasonable probability" that GMA's members would suffer the type of harm described in *Buckley* and other cases, the Court of Appeals rightly rejected GMA's claims for anonymity. *GMA*, 5 Wn. App. 2d at 199.

B. The Court of Appeals Appropriately Rejected GMA's Request to Read a "Primary Purpose" Test into the Contributions Prong of the Statutory Definition of Political Committee

An organization can qualify as a political committee in two ways: "by either (1) expecting to receive or receiving contributions, or (2) expecting to make or making expenditures" for any initiative. *EFF*, 111 Wn. App. at 598; RCW 42.17A.005(37). Courts have held that the second prong is satisfied only if attempting to influence elections is a "primary purpose" of the organization. *See Utter*, 182 Wn.2d at 427. As the courts have explained, the "primary purpose" test is necessary for the "maker of expenditures prong" because it captures those groups that make political advocacy a priority without sweeping in those who only incidentally engage in such advocacy. *Brumsickle*, 624 F.3d at 1011. GMA argues that the Court of Appeals erred in rejecting its assertion that a "primary purpose" requirement should also be applied to the contributions prong in order to protect it from "unconstitutional burdens." GMA Pet. at 12-18. Each of GMA's arguments in this regard fail.

As an initial matter, GMA claims conflict with this Court's opinion in *Utter*, citing several statements by this Court that it contends establish a "constitutional threshold" for both prongs of the definition of political committee. GMA Pet. at 12-13. But, as GMA admits, *Utter* "did not mention the primary purpose test in discussing contributions." GMA Pet. at 17. Rather, when speaking of the contributions prong, this Court merely affirmed that it asks only whether an organization "expects to receive *or* receives contributions toward electoral goals." *Utter*, 182 Wn.2d at 416. As GMA acknowledges, this Court never commented on whether a primary purpose test *should* apply to the contributions prong analysis. *See Id.* at 416-19. GMA cannot claim conflict under RAP 13.4(b)(1) when this Court did not even address the issue.

GMA next argues that failing to apply a purpose limitation to the "contributions" prong would unduly burden a variety of organizations because "their receipt of any funds that could potentially be spent in elections" would require disclosure of a "massive amount" of information unrelated to electioneering. GMA Pet. at 13-14. In making this argument, GMA overstates the application of the contributions prong, as well as the State's disclosure requirements.

An organization will have "the expectation of receiving contributions" when its members have "actual or constructive knowledge that the organization is setting aside [the members'] funds to support or oppose a candidate or ballot proposition." Brumsickle, 624 F.3d at 1020 (citation omitted); Utter, 182 Wn.2d at 416-17. In contrast, an organization generally will not have an expectation of receiving contributions if the organization's members pay dues into a general fund not segregated in any manner for political expenditures. EFF, 111 Wn. App at 603. In that instance, the members "would have had no actual or constructive knowledge that their membership dues would be used for electoral political activity." Id. Thus, the risk that a membership organization will inadvertently get swept into the definition of political committee is nearly nil; its members must have "actual or constructive knowledge that the organization is setting aside their funds to support or oppose a candidate or ballot proposition." Brumsickle, 624 F.3d at 1020 (citation omitted). Moreover, as these examples illustrate, nothing in state law prohibits an association from establishing a separate fund or account that would allow the association to segregate moneys received as political contributions from

those received for other purposes. In such a case, the organization would only have to disclose contributions received and expenditures made from the account, not its entire corporate operations—the same as that expected of GMA here. *See, e.g.*, CP 4072.

GMA next faults the Court of Appeals for recognizing a "fundamental difference" between spending money on a campaign and receiving contributions from others to spend on a campaign. GMA Pet. at 15 (citing *GMA*, 5 Wn. App. 2d at 189). GMA makes much of the unremarkable fact that contributions received by organizations can also later become "expenditures" when spent on electoral purposes. *Id.* It is hard to understand the significance of GMA's argument here.² The State's definition of a political committee and resulting disclosure requirements are purposely designed "to ferret out . . . those whose purpose is to influence the political process," regardless of whether they are soliciting contributions from others or later expending collected funds for electoral purposes. *See (1972) Dan J. Evans Campaign Comm.*, 86 Wn.2d at 508.

² GMA is wrong in its assertion that "one making campaign expenditures must have gotten the money via contributions." GMA Pet. at 15. GMA cites the FCPA's exemption in the definition of political committee for candidates or individuals dealing with their own funds. RCW 42.17A.005(37). Contrary to GMA's contention, that exemption has never applied to other entities. Rather the 1973 Attorney General Opinion reached only the conclusion that "expenditures made by a corporation or other organization in the form of contributions to political committees or candidates do not make that organization a political committee." Op. Att'y Gen. 14 (1973), at 27 (emphasis added). GMA turns this example on its head.

In any event, the Court of Appeals' distinction makes sense when considered in the context of whether a primary purpose test should be applied to those receiving or having the expectation of receiving contributions. As noted previously, the test is necessary to ensure that those who only incidentally engage in political advocacy through isolated campaign expenditures are not unduly swept within the definition of political committee. Brumsickle, 624 F.3d at 1011. In contrast, those-like GMA here-who solicit and receive contributions from others who have "actual or constructive knowledge that the organization is setting aside their funds to support or oppose a ballot measure" inherently have political advocacy as one of their purposes, and thus are exactly who campaign finance disclosure laws are designed to shine a spotlight on. Brumsickle, 624 F.3d at 1020. See also, e.g., (1972) Dan J. Evans Campaign Comm., 86 Wn.2d at 508; Buckley, 424 U.S. at 65-66 (pooling money through contributions is "essential" advocacy); Citizens Against Rent Control/Coal. for Fair Hous. v. City of Berkeley, Cal., 454 U.S. 290, 298, 102 S. Ct. 434, 438, 70 L. Ed. 2d 492 (1981) ("Contributions by individuals to support concerted action by a committee advocating a position on a ballot measure is beyond question a very significant form of political expression.").

It is true that no court in Washington has had the opportunity to apply the primary purpose test to those receiving or having the expectation of receiving political contributions. *See* GMA Pet. at 17. In fact, the State has found no case here or anywhere else discussing such an application. This is likely for good reason. At least in Washington, courts have already narrowed the definition of political committee to capture only those who have made political advocacy a priority—whether that is by soliciting contributions to support or oppose a ballot measure or making expenditures with a purpose of furthering specific electoral political goals. *See, e.g., Utter*, 182 Wn.2d at 415-17; *EFF*, 111 Wn. App. at 598; *Brumsickle*, 624 F.3d at 1011.

C. The Court of Appeals' Straightforward Application of RCW 42.17A.435 Raises No Issue of Significant Public Concern

GMA also challenges the Court of Appeals' decision upholding the application of RCW 42.17A.435, the State's prohibition against concealment. GMA Pet. at 19-20. While GMA previously asserted constitutional vagueness, it now appears to challenge only the application of the statute to its conduct. *Compare GMA*, 5 Wn. App. 2d at 203-06 *with* GMA Pet. at 19. GMA provides no reason to accept review on this straightforward issue. RAP 13.4(b).

RCW 42.17A.435 provides:

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